1977

State of Utah v. Michael Don Peterson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THIS COURT AS TO WHETHER AN ARREST WAS MADE BEFORE DEFENDANT WAS TAKEN INTO THE OREM POLICE STATION FOR QUESTIONING, AND WHETHER EVIDENCE WAS LEGALLY OBTAINED FROM DEFENDANT, WAS DECIDED BY THIS COURT WITHOUT A FULL RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS.

In Appellant's previous brief, it was urged (in Points I and II) that Defendant was illegally restrained of his liberty, and at such restraint constituted false arrest and that all evidence arising therefrom should be suppressed, as mandated in the case of Davis v. Mississippi, 349 U.S. 721 (1969). It was further urged, that Defendant's oral statement was illegally obtained, and should also be suppressed, under the rule enunciated in Miranda v. Arizona, 84 U.S. 436 (1966). The main argument before the trial court on those matters was made in the pre-trial hearing on suppression, heard on the

28th day of May, 1976. Defendant, because of time limitations, and because of lack of knowledge as to what was contained in the trial transcript, did not include a transcript of the pre-trial hearing with the original record on appeal. Defendant, however, did offer to produce a transcript, if the court felt it was relevant to its decision. The court, without requesting the additional transcript, decided that question based only on the information which had previously been supplied to it. The court stated, that because of a lack of a transcript of the suppression hearing, "We can only conclude the determination of the trial court was correct." (Decision page 2) In its footnote to that comment, the court quoted Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590 (1975) which indicated that if there were facts supporting the claim of an unlawful detention the fact that the Miranda warning was given would not be sufficient, in itself, to rule that the Defendant's statement was taken legally. It is obvious, therefore, that the facts surrounding the obtaining of the statement, as they were brought out in the suppression hearing, should be carefully examined before a final decision is made. The transcript of the suppression hearing has now been ordered, as is evidenced by the Request for Copy of Transcript, and the affidavit which are submitted to the court with this brief. It is Appellant's contention, that if all the facts are examined, it will clearly appear

that the restraint and the statement of Defendant obtained thereafter were illegal.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT CERTAIN EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S CHARACTER WAS PROPERLY HELD INADMISSABLE, UNDER RULE 47 U.R.E.

In his Brief of Appeal, Appellant argued that the trial court was wrong in refusing to admit proffered evidence as to traits of character. This court refused to accept that contention in a Brief Statement, which constituted only one-half page of a four page opinion. Appellant contends that the evidence which was excluded on the grounds of relevancy was indeed highly relevant, and should have been admitted.

A person who commits the kind of crime alleged in this case is not driven by the same needs that causes a person to murder someone who has been tormenting him for many years, or to steal enough money to alleviate the severe financial problems which may be haunting him. Instead, the sexual abuser is a person with a deep neuroses or psychoses, which is likely to have shown itself at other times. The evidence proposed by Defendant, and successfully objected to, was part of an attempt to show that no such symptoms had been previously observable. His wife had already testified that their sex life was a normal one, and that she had never

seen any evidence of sexual abnormality. The fact that others of his most closely related associates had also failed to see such symptoms, could only be highly relevant. While a man's parents might be expected to stick with him despite anything that he might have done, the wife and other female associates of that same man cannot be expected to overlook any possibility of such deviancy, in their own minds. The literature on deviant sexual behavior shows that the man who would do what is alleged in this instance, is likely to be suffering from a personality disorder, which should be noticeable to those in close contact, as his illustrated by this exert from a standard textbook of abnormal psychology:

"In a study of 250 sex offenders in New York City, offenses involving forcible rape were commonly found to be associated with antisocial personalities who had aggressive tendencies and past records of aggressive antisocial actions, though not always of a sexual nature (Apfelberg, 1944). Similarly Dunham (1951) found that almost half the offenders in cases of forcible rape in Michigan had previous police records. In a more recent psychological study of 100 rapists, Kopp (1962) again found a high incidence of antisocial personalities. He described them this way:

'This antisocial psychopath is a cold, seemingly unfeeling man who has always taken what he wanted from others without apparent concern for the feelings of his victims or for the consequences of his act. For him, rape is just another instance of aggressive taking, except that in this case he steals sexual satisfaction rather than money or property. When questioned about his offense, he often responds with callous sarcasm, completely devoid of guilt or concern. He may well simply respond with the statement, 'I wanted it so I took it.' The rape fits so well with his character structure and is so typical of his general behavior

pattern that he can see nothing wrong with the act, and often goes on to rationalize that his victim probably enjoyed it. He wants no part of therapy unless he sees it as a means of manipulating his way out of incarceration. Needless to say, he is just as difficult to treat as those psychopaths who commit nonsexual offenses.' (p.66)

Although antisocial personalities constitute the largest group of offenders, forcible rape may also be associated with other psychopathology. Kopp (1962) has described the overly compliant offender who appears to fit the description of a passive-aggressive personality. His aggressive antisocial behavior is apparently related to a build-up of hostility and tension, and afterwards he feels guilty and much concerned about the well-being of his victim. The lowering of inner controls in manic reactions, schizophrenia, and other psychoses may also lead to physical assault and occasionally to forcible rape.

In a study of the wives of rapists, Palm and Abrahamsen (1954) found that they tended to be sexually seductive but rejecting, duplicating the type of relationship many of the rapists had with their mothers. The deviate sexual act, then, could be interpreted as "a displaced attempt to force a seductive but rejecting mother into submission." Abnormal Psychology and Modern Life, 3rd Ed. by James C. Coleman; Scott, Foresman and Co. (Chicago, 1964) p. 388-389.

Refusing to hear the observations of those who know the Defendant best, is refusing evidence of a highly probative value.

POINT III

IF EITHER OF THE ABOVE CONTENTIONS IS UPHOLD, THE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT INVOLVED IN ATTEMPTING TO ELICIT INFORMATION ON PRIOR CONVICTIONS FROM DEFENDANT'S WIFE CAN NO LONGER BE HELD AS HARMLESS ERROR, AND MUST BE AN ADDITIONAL GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL.

In his previous brief, Defendant argued that the Utah