1977

# State of Utah v. Michael Don Peterson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Michael Don Peterson, appeals from a judgment entered against him in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah, the Honorable George E. Ballif, presiding, following a conviction for Forcible Sexual Abuse.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was tried before the Honorable George E. Ballif, sitting with a jury. The jury returned a verdict finding the appellant guilty of Forcible Sexual Abuse, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-404 (1953), as amended. The judgment, sentence and commitment were entered. From the action of the trial court the appellant appeals.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmation of the verdict and judgment of the lower court.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 24, 1976, at approximately 9:00 p.m., Mrs. Sandy Murphy, an Orem resident, was attacked sexually as she walked home from a church meeting. A man, later identified as appellant, approached her from behind, put his hand over her mouth, pushed her to the ground and put his hand under her dress, coming in contact with her genitals, through her underwear (T.9). Mrs. Murphy screamed and struggled and the assailant ran off (T.11).

On the evening of April 7, 1976, appellant was approached by a police officer while he was out walking (T.21). The police officer asked for his identification, found that he matched the description and name of a person being sought for questioning, and asked appellant to accompany him to the police station for questioning (T.22).

In the course of the evening, appellant gave a statement admitting that he was the man who had attacked Mrs. Murphy, and that he had done it out of sexual desire (T.32,33).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE OBJECTION TO APPELLANT'S LINE OF QUESTIONING REGARDING REASONS FOR APPELLANT'S PRESENCE AT THE POLICE STATION.

Police stopped appellant on April 7, 1976, when he was walking in the same vicinity where Mrs. Murphy had been attacked approximately two weeks earlier (T.21). Officer Taylor asked for appellant's identification and found that he matched the name of the person being sought for this offense. Officer Taylor then asked if appellant would accompany him to the police station to answer some questions. Appellant said he would go if it would not take too long, voluntarily got in the car and went to the station with the officers (T.22). As appellant's brief correctly states, no arrest was made at this time.

During cross-examination of Officer Taylor, the appellant's counsel tried to discover information concerning another crime for which appellant was also a suspect at the time. The prosecution objected and the objection was sustained.

Respondent submits that at no time was defendant illegally arrested or detained. He went freely with the police when he was first stopped and voluntarily stayed at the station during questioning. Nothing in the transcript indicates that appellant thought he was under arrest or was being forcibly detained.

Since appellant was not arrested or forcibly detained before or during questioning, the complaint that appellant was falsely arrested is invalid and questions asked in hope of supporting that theory were immaterial. Therefore, an objection to a question relating to the other crime for which appellant was also a suspect was properly sustained.

This question of whether defendant was arrested or went by consent to the station was twice answered by the trial court, once at suppression hearing prior to the trial and once at the trial itself (T.25). The trial court had ample opportunity to review the facts and consider appellant's position in this regard. Such a well founded decision of the trial court should not be disturbed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING APPELLANT'S ORAL TESTIMONY TO BE ADMITTED AS EVIDENCE AT TRIAL.

As outlined in Point I above, respondent submits that appellant was not illegally detained at the time he made his admission as to his attack on Mrs. Murphy. Appellant's rights were carefully explained to him at least three times while he was at the police station (T.27,31). He waived his right to have an attorney and said he would talk freely to the county attorney (T.31).

The police questioning was not excessive or coercive. He was asked about his whereabouts on the evening in question and his explanation of the attack on Mrs. Murphy. Contrary to appellant's allegations, the officers who were present during questioning testified they did not suggest phrases to appellant (T.37,43). The officer read a couple of sentences from the report and asked appellant if they were true only after appellant had given a full explanation of his account of the incident (T.37). Such thoroughness should not be a reason for suggesting that appellant's statement was involuntary.

The fact that appellant may have a lower intellectual ability than general adult population should not be an automatic cause for excluding his admissions either.

In State v. Ashdown, 5 Utah 2d 59, 296 P.2d 726 (1956), the defendant was suspected of murdering her husband and was taken in for questioning immediately after the funeral. After five and one half hours of questioning, she admitted to having committed the crime.

This Court described that defendant as "a person of limited education and was naturally emotionally upset at the time of questioning." But in sustaining the admission of this confession, the Court said:

"Manifestly, the will of a person who is of tender age or of weak intellect may be more easily overcome than that of one who is more mature or more intelligent. This alone, however, will not render a confession inadmissible and if the confession was obtained in a manner and by such methods as are consistent with the proper detention of crime and determination of guilt, then our duty is to sustain the trial court." Id. at 729.

In accord: People v. Lara, 62 Cal.Rptr. 586, 432 P.2d 202 (1967) (mental subnormality of accused only one factor considered in deciding voluntariness of confession).

Even if it could be adequately proven that this lower intelligence did make appellant more persuadable than a normal adult, the facts do not suggest that those who questioned him took advantage of this factor.

A careful study of the facts will show that the factors mentioned in appellant's brief, taken individually or collectively, present no indication that the appellant was forced, or unduly persuaded, to answer questions or make his admission as to the attack on Mrs. Murphy. His presence at the station was voluntary, his rights were explained, the questioning was proper, both in form and content, his lower intellectual abilities were not preyed upon, and no means of threats or force were used. His voluntary admission was valid and was properly admitted into evidence.

The Court in State v. Ashdown, supra, spoke decisively about affirmation of trial court's findings

in such an instance:

" . . . [A]fter the trial court has decided from the evidence that the confession was voluntarily made, the appellate court will not disturb the finding in the absence of a showing of abuse of its discretion where there is substantial evidence from which it could reasonably so find." Id. at 729.

Substantial evidence of voluntariness exists in the present case and this decision should be upheld.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT GRANTING A MISTRIAL BASED UPON CROSS-EXAMINATION OF APPELLANT'S WIFE.

Appellant argues that the county attorney was guilty of misconduct by asking the appellant's wife, on cross-examination, if appellant had ever been convicted of a felony involving dishonesty. A close reading of the Utah Rules of Evidence, however, will clearly show that such questioning was permissible.

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 21, states:

"Evidence of the conviction of a witness for a crime not involving dishonesty or false statement shall be inadmissible for the purpose of impairing his credibility, except as otherwise provided by statute." (Emphasis added.)

This Rule specifically excepts crimes of dishonesty and false statement from its prohibition against admission of evidence of crimes. Therefore, such evidence of crimes of dishonesty can be admitted under Rule 20, which states:

"Subject to Rules 21 and 22, for purpose of impairing or supporting the credibility of a witness, any party including a party calling him may examine him and introduce extrinsic evidence concerning any statement or conduct by him and any other matter relevant upon the issues of credibility." (Emphasis added.)

Examining other witnesses as to their knowledge of a conviction of a certain witness for a crime of dishonesty is within the scope and purpose of this Rule. Since appellant had taken the stand prior to the cross-examination in question, he had become a witness and his credibility was susceptible to this type of attack.

Rule 26(f) of Alaska's Rules of Criminal Procedure is very similar to Rule 21 of Utah's Rules of Evidence. Rule 26(f) says that for purpose of attacking credibility of witness, evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime is only admissible if the crime involved dishonesty or false statement. The Alaska Supreme Court acknowledged this as a valid exception to

the general rule that evidence of crimes is not admissible in Galauski v. State, 527 P.2d 450 (1974), when it stated:

" . . . [E]vidence of convictions for crimes involving dishonesty is admissible to show that a witness' testimony is unworthy." Id. at 467.

For the same reasons, the questioning of Mrs. Peterson was permissible. Even if such questioning of Mrs. Peterson by the county attorney was somehow improper, it is totally a matter of conjecture that this one question caused the jury to be prejudiced against the appellant. Since the questioning was terminated even before an answer had been given, this questioning, if error, must be deemed harmless error since it did not have ". . . a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict or finding," and this is required if a verdict is to be set aside for reason of erroneous admission of evidence. Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 4.

#### POINT IV

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED THAT APPELLANT TOUCHED THE PLAINTIFF'S GENITALS AND OTHERWISE TOOK INDECENT LIBERTIES AND THUS THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME WERE PROVEN.

Appellant suggests that since the evidence shows that there was a layer of clothing between Mrs. Murphy's genitals and appellant's hand, that he did not "touch" the genitals in the statutory sense of the word. To accept such a limited definition of the word would distort the ordinary meaning of the word and would unduly limit the legislative intent of this statute.

One can "touch" another's hand even though the other person is wearing gloves. A person can "touch" or hold an arm of another even though it is covered by a sleeve of a coat. Such is common use and understanding of the word "touch" and such usage should be applied in the present case.

The legislature did not give this word a special definition in the statute in question. The required specificity needed to properly define the purpose of the statute is supplied by the intent required in order for someone to be guilty of forcible sexual abuse. It seems evident that if one touches the genitals of another with the intent to satisfy sexual desire, even though the area he touched was

covered by the victim's underwear, he is guilty of the very thing which the legislature proscribed in this statute.

Assuming, arguendo, that this technicality does prohibit appellant's actions from being seen as "touching" of another's genitals, he has taken "indecent liberties" under any definition. The evidence presented established that appellant invaded a woman's body by forcing her to the ground and putting his hand up her dress for the satisfaction of sexual desire. Such evidence is clearly sufficient to establish that appellant was guilty of forcible sexual abuse as defined by the statute.

#### POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT ADMITTING TESTIMONY REGARDING APPELLANT'S SPECIFIC BEHAVIOR.

Appellant called Barbara Batty to the stand to testify as a character witness in appellant's behalf. Appellant's counsel questioned Mrs. Batty as to appellant's behavior towards her when neither of their respective spouses were present. The prosecutor objected (T.82). After some debate on the legal issue of the admissibility of such evidence,

the Court sustained the objection (T.83-85).

Appellant cites Rule 47 of the Utah Rules of Evidence as authority for his position. However, Rule 47 is quite specific in defining what evidence will be allowed in the area of character traits. It reads in part:

". . . (b) in a criminal action evidence of a trait of an accused's character as tending to prove his guilt or innocence of the offense charged . . . may not be excluded by the judge . . . if offered by the accused to prove his innocence. . . ."

In order for evidence to be admissible under this Rule, it must go directly to the character trait which is in question. It is difficult to see how evidence that appellant does not make sexual advances to a woman with whom he and his wife are good friends and with whom he and his wife frequently socialize with, has any probative value of determining if he would sexually attack a strange woman on the street at night.

Any connection which this evidence may have to prove or disprove the trait in question is far too indirect to be relevant. As the note under Rule 47 states, "The admission or rejection of character evidence depends primarily on the court's conception of its relevancy." The conception of the trial court in this

case was that such evidence was too remote and therefore inadmissible.

An analogous situation existed in State v. Fairbanks, 171 P.2d 845 (1946). The defendant in that case was charged with taking indecent liberties with a female under the age of fifteen. The defendant called a witness to try and establish that the defendant was in the habit of calling upon young girls to answer telephone calls in the office. Presumably such evidence was offered to show that since the defendant had not taken indecent liberties with these girls, he did not have the character trait to take indecent liberties with the girls in question. The Washington Supreme Court flatly rejected this argument on appeal. It said:

"We fail to perceive any materiality of the evidence indicated by the questions. If it was designed to show that appellant was a man of good character, it was incompetent." Id. at 848.

The excluded evidence in the present case was likewise incompetent and irrelevant. The trial court's well-supported decision on its exclusion should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For the above reasons, respondent respectfully requests that the conviction of the lower court be affirmed.